## FILED

01/21/2025 Bowen Greenwood

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA Orace Number: DA 24-0668

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA NO. DA 24-0668

### TRISTIN FAHRNOW,

### Appellant,

v.

E-5 OILFIELD SERVICES, LLC and EIKER, INC.,

Appellees.

### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

On Appeal From The Montana Seventh Judicial District Court, Richland County The Honorable David Cybulski, Presiding

Ian P. Gillespie DRIGGS, BILLS & DAY, P.C. 910 Brooks Street, Suite 103 Missoula, MT 59801 (406) 206-9707 igillespie@advocates.com Counsel for Appellant Tristin Fahrnow

Jesse Myers	Martha Sheehy	
MURPHYMYERS PLLC	SHEEHY LAW FIRM	
27 N. 27th Street, Suite 21-A	P.O. Box 584

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

Whether the District Court erred in granting summary judgment in E-5
 Oilfield Services, LLC's ("E-5") and Eiker, Inc.'s ("Eiker"). favor.

2. Whether the District Court erred in denying Tristin Fahrnow's ("Fahrnow") motion for summary judgment regarding E-5's and Eiker's liability.

Whether the District Court abused its discretion in refusing to sanction
 E-5 and Eiker for spoliation of evidence.

4. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in its order awarding E-5 \$57,605.88 and Eiker \$13,565.42 in costs.

5. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in denying Fahrnow's motion to compel, granting E-5's cross-motion for protective order, and awarding E-5 its attorney fees for the cross-motion.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On November 8, 2018, Fahrnow suffered severe and permanent injuries after being run over by a hot-oil truck driven by Greg Brown ("Brown"), who was working for E-5 and Eiker. On November 2, 2021, Fahrnow filed a lawsuit against E-5, and, on December 20, 2023, Fahrnow filed his second amended complaint to substitute Eiker for a Doe after the District Court entered an order allowing such.

On September 13, 2024, Fahrnow filed a motion for summary judgment on the issue of liability and spoliation of evidence by E-5 and Eiker. On September 13, 2024, E-5 and Eiker filed their respective motions for summary judgment. On March 4, 2024, Fahrnow filed a motion to compel E-5 to answer an interrogatory, to which E-5 opposed and filed a cross-motion for protective order.

On September 9, 2024, the District Court entered an order denying Fahrnow's motion to compel and granting the cross-motion for protective order. On October 15, 2024, the District Court orally denied Fahrnow's motion for summary judgment and spoliation motions at the final pretrial conference. On October 17, 2024, the District Court held a hearing on E-5's and Eiker's motions for summary judgment. On October 17, 2024, the District Court granted Eiker's motion for summary judgment. On October 18, 2024, the District Court granted E-5's motion for summary judgment. On November 6, 2024, the District Court awarded E-5 and Eiker their respective costs and awarded E-5 its attorney fees for the cross-motion

for protective order.

Fahrnow has appealed the judgments and the following orders: Order (November 6, 2024); Order on E-5 Oilfield Services, LLC's Motion for Summary Judgment; Order on Eiker's Motion for Summary Judgment; Order on Fahrnow's Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability and Spoliation of Evidence and Motion re: E-5's and Eiker's Spoliation of Evidence on Greg Brown's Scope of Employment; the Order on Plaintiff's Motion to Compel Defendant E-5 to Answer Interrogatory #11 and Defendant E-5 Oilfield's Cross-Motion for Protective Order.

This timely appeal ensues.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### I. Factual Background Regarding Liability

#### A. The Two Collisions.

This matter concerns severe and ongoing injuries Fahrnow suffered as a result of being run over by a hot-oil truck on November 8, 2018 around 3:30pm at the intersection of Highway 23 and County Road 350 near Sidney, Montana. (Fahrnow Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability and Spoliation of Evidence ("Fahrnow MSJ") at Exh. A and B).

Prior to the collisions, it was apparent that the roads were icy that day, including that intersection. (*Id.* at Exh. C at 129:12-19, Exh. D at 12:01-07, 38:12-39:01, Exh. E at 18:11-20, Exh. K at 45:03-04). It is generally understood by people in the area that the intersection is slicker than most areas from ice. (*Id.* at Exh. D at 40:04-10). Fahrnow was driving a work pickup truck with his co-worker, Jordan Harrell ("Harrell"). (*Id.* at Exh. C at 129:06-19, 141:09-20). Fahrnow was driving on CR350 southbound and approaching the intersection of Highway 23, and he maintained control of the truck. (*Id.* at Exh. D at 39:08-22). Fahrnow and Harrell stopped at the stop sign, waiting to turn onto Highway 23. (*Id.* at Exh. D at 12:08-12, Exh. F at 69:01-10).

//

Joseph Averett ("Averett"), a then-employee of Defendant XTO, Inc.,<sup>1</sup> was driving too fast in icy conditions while turning from Highway 23 to CR350, lost control of his vehicle and crashed his vehicle into the truck Fahrnow had stopped at the stop sign. (*Id.* at Exh. C at 128:11-16, 138:03-09, 140:17-24, Exh. D at 13:11-16, 42:15-18, Exh. E at 23:05-25). Below is the diagram which generally shows how the crash occurred:



(*Id.* at Exh. A at p. 4). Averett confirmed the above-diagram is consistent with his memory of the crash. (*Id.* at Exh. F at 71:16-21). Averett also confirmed that he was following another truck, which also made the turn on CR350, and *did not lose control.* (*Id.* at Exh F. at 76:12-25).

//

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Fahrnow and XTO reached a settlement.

Fahrnow, Harrell and Averett all exited their vehicles to assess the damage. (*Id.* at Exh. C at 141:09-20, 142:22-24, Exh. D at 16:02-15, Exh. F at 94:01-07). Averett left the XTO vehicle either in the middle of CR350 or the northbound lane. (*Id.* at Exh. C 151:25-152:04, Exh. F at 71:22-72:04, 94:12-19). Regarding Fahrnow's truck there was no immediate area for Fahrnow to park the vehicle off the road. (*Id.* at Exh. C at 151:03-11). This is clear from photographs taken by E-5's expert, Martin Randolph, which show no shoulder and a drop off near the stop sign:



(Fahrnow Opposition to E-5 Motion for Summary Judgment at Exh. 1 at Exh. D).

Fahrnow and Harrell did not immediately move the truck because it was unclear the extent of damage and if the truck could move because it had a trailer hitched near the point of impact. (Fahrnow MSJ at Exh. C at 149:24-150:17). Fahrnow kept the truck in the southbound lane of CR350 at the stop sign, which was the appropriate lane for the truck. (*Id.* at Exh. C at 145:22-146:01, 151:19-24, Exh. D at 22:12-15, Exh. E at 34:09-16 (Trooper Woodland noting that Fahrnow's truck was "legally stopped in traffic")). Harrell testified that leaving the truck there "seemed completely safe" at the time. (*Id.* at Exh. D at 27:18-20).

At that time, Brown was driving a hot-oil truck for both E-5 and Eiker too fast in icy conditions while turning from Highway 23 to CR350, lost control of his vehicle, and crashed his vehicle into Fahrnow dragging Fahrnow 20 feet. (*Id.* at Exh. C at 141:22-142:01, Exh. D at 23:08-15). Fahrnow testified:

[A]fter we decided to move the truck off to the side of the road, I was walking back up to the cab, and as I was going to step into it is when that hot oil truck tried to make that corner, and he honked his horn and gave me enough time to turn to my right and get out of in between the door and the frame of the pickup, and he struck me. I ended up underneath of it, and ... he pushed me and the work truck into the ditch.

(*Id.* at Exh. C 147:02-11).





Harrell did not see the E-5/Eiker truck coming and only heard the horn a split-second before the crash. (*Id.* at Exh. D at 16:12-15, 18:14-23).



(*Id.* at Exh. B). Brown testified the above-diagram is substantively consistent with his recollection of the second crash. (*Id.* at Exh. G at 291:03-296:08). Brown testified that he saw the trucks in the road after the first crash but he thought they were only stopped to chat, even though Fahrnow and Harrell were out of their vehicle

and Averett's truck was beyond Fahrnow's truck in the middle of the road. (*Id.* at Exh. G at 259:03-11). Brown claims he did not see that as a "[r]ed flag." (*Id.* at Exh. G at 265:19-22). "[V]isibility is not an issue" at this stretch of roadway which was clear for a "quarter mile". (*Id.* at Exh. D at 26:11-15, Exh. G at 268:14-21).

Fahrnow, Harrell, and Averett recalled that only 2-5 minutes had passed between the two collisions. (*Id.* at Exh. C at 145:08-11, Exh. D at 25:02-07, Exh. F at 96:25-97:06). Averett recalled about 10 vehicles had driven by in between the two collisions, including at least one roustabout truck that turned onto CR350 without losing control. (*Id.* at Exh. F at 145:06-22).

Trooper Perry Woodland testified all drivers who were making the turn onto CR350 at that time should have "greatly reduced" their speed and Brown was driving too fast for conditions. (*Id.* at Exh. E at 25:20-26:03, Exh. B). Fahrnow retained accident reconstructionist, Dr. Jay Przybyla, as a expert in this case, who opined Brown was traveling "at a speed of at least 20 - 29 mph" as he lost directional control, and the impact speed was "approximately 12 - 18 mph." (*Id.* at Exh. I at Exh. A at p. 3, 16). E-5 disclosed Randall Akers who testified Brown was travelling at speeds consistent with Przybyla's opinions. (*Id.* at Exh. J 80:02-81:06).

Brown testified that he was allegedly travelling "two miles an hour" or "[s]lower than a person walks" as he lost control and then struck Fahrnow. (*Id.* at Exh. G at 286:20-287:21, 341:21-342:10). Expert testimony established this is false.

(*Id.* at Exh. I at Exh. A at p. 19). Brown testified that when he hit his brakes, he realized that he had lost control of the truck. (*Id.* at Exh. G at 288:07-289:10, 326:18-22). This is contrary to Brown's written statement from the following day, which states he lost control when he turned and then later braked. (*Id.* at Exh. G at 345:12-349:02, Exh. H).

Paul Eiker ("Paul"), owner of E-5 and Eiker, checked "Yes" in the section that Brown was "Operating at improper speed" and paid the citations for Brown's driving without protest. (*Id.* at Exh. L, K at 63:08-64:22).

#### **B.** The Court's Order

Fahrnow and E-5 filed motions for summary judgment on the issue of liability. On October 15, 2024, the District Court orally denied Fahrnow's motion for summary judgment at the final pretrial conference. (Appendix at pp. 30-35 (11:17-16:17)). On October 16, 2024, E-5 submitted a proposed order to grant its motion for summary judgment. On October 18, 2024, the District Court entered an order granting E-5's motion for summary judgment, which was E-5's proposed order with legal citations omitted and a brief recap section. (Appendix at p. 3).

# II. E-5's and Eiker's Spoliation of Evidence and Eiker's Employment of Brown

#### A. Data from the Hot-Oil Truck

Paul, upon learning of the collision, immediately "grabbed an accident report and took off from our shop and drove up there." (Fahrnow MSJ at Exh. K at 42:0104). Paul later reviewed the data from the hot oil truck, but E-5 nonetheless failed to preserve that data after Paul reviewed it. (*Id.* at Exh. K at 58:19-59:11). Paul recalls the data purportedly showed Brown to be driving at a "low speed", but could not clarify any more what a "low speed" was. (*Id.* at Exh. K at 60:17-25). A lay person without specific training, like Paul, could not reliably interpret the data. (*Id.* at Exh. J at 45:11-21, Exh. I, ¶ 5). All the documents and agreements for the vehicle tracking for E-5's trucks were through Eiker. (Fahrnow Motion re: Spoliation re: Greg Brown Employment ("Motion re: Spoliation") at Exh. G).

On November 12, 2018, E-5/Eiker submitted the claim to the insurer. (Fahrnow MSJ at Exh. K at 89:23-07, Exh. M). On June 5, 2019, Fahrnow's counsel contacted E-5, through its insurer, to provide notice of representation. (*Id.* at Exh. P).

E-5 and Eiker no longer have any data from the hot-oil truck from that day and allowed it to be destroyed. (*Id.* at Exh. Q, Exh. K at 58:09-14, Exh. R). Co-Defendant XTO preserved data from its truck that day. (*Id.* at Exh. N, Exh. O).

#### B. Brown's Personnel File & Eiker's Employment of Brown

On August 7, 2023, Fahrnow served his second set of discovery on E-5, which sought employment documents for Brown. (Fahrnow Motion to Amend at Exh. D). E-5 produced employment documents between Brown and Eiker *only*, which include an employment agreement between Brown and Eiker and acknowledgments

11

and policies Brown signed using Eiker forms. (Motion re: Spoliation at Exh. A, Exh. H at 29:17-30:11). E-5 also produced an Accident Investigation Report regarding the crashes that injured Fahrnow using Eiker forms. (Fahrnow Motion to Amend at Exh. E). On the day of the incident, Brown submitted to US DOT alcohol testing, and on the form signed by Brown, "Eiker Inc." is named as Brown's employer at the time, and Brown certified that "the identifying information provided on the form is true and correct." (Motion re: Spoliation at Exh. B).

E-5 has no documents in its possession regarding Brown's employment, compared to Eiker. (*Id.* at Exh. C). Paul testified that Brown completed an employment application when he purportedly transferred employment from Eiker to E-5. (*Id.* at Exh. I at 29:16-24). The documents of Brown's employment at E-5 are "missing" and E-5 and Eiker have no documentation of Brown leaving work at either company. (*Id.* at Exh. I at 29:16-24, 31:12-21, Exh. H at 19:17-21:09). Both Eiker and E-5 have the same duties under federal regulations for hiring employees and maintaining a "driver qualification file". (*Id.* at Exh. I at 33:09-34:10); 49 CFR 391.23, 40.25. Brown's employment file at E-5 would have been physically in a "filing cabinet". (*Id.* at Exh. I at 34:15:18, Exh. H 19:12-20:19). If an employee was transferred from Eiker to E-5, the employment file would be split into two but maintained in the same place and filing cabinet. (*Id.* at Exh. I at 35:03-11).

//

#### C. The Court's Order

On September 13, 2024, Fahrnow his Motion for Spoliation re: Brown's Employment file and a Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability and Spoliation regarding the Black Box data. On September 13, 2024, Eiker filed a motion for summary judgment. On October 15, 2024, the District Court orally denied Fahrnow's motions regarding spoliation at the final pretrial conference. (Appendix at pp. 30-36 (11:17-17:02)). On October 16, 2024, Eiker submitted a proposed order. On October 17, 2024, the District Court entered an order granting Eiker's motion for summary judgment, which was E-5's proposed order with legal citations omitted. (Appendix at p. 12).

#### **III.** Order on Costs

On October 22, 2024, E-5 and Eiker filed bills of costs. E-5 sought \$57,605.88 in costs without any supporting documentation, and Eiker sought \$13,565.43 in costs with attached invoices. On October 25, 2024, Fahrnow filed timely motions to tax and objections to the bills of costs. The vast majority of the costs are not recoverable under Montana law.

After the briefing on the bill of costs was complete, Fahrnow learned that E-5 had not, in fact, incurred Dr. Vadim Tsvankin's \$2,000 deposition fee (which was already objected-to for other reasons) despite E-5's counsel's sworn statement the fee was incurred. (Motion to Recover Tsvankin's Fees at Exh. A, Exh. B). On November 4, 2024, Fahrnow filed a motion to recover Dr. Tsvankin's fees and seeking E-5 and Eiker to pay \$3,716.00 to Dr. Tsvankin for the time they spent questioning Dr. Tsvankin at his deposition in accordance with the parties' practice with other experts. (*Id.*) This includes the unpaid \$2,000 E-5 swore it incurred, but did not. (*Id.*)

On November 6, 2024, the District Court awarded E-5 and Eiker all their requested costs totaling \$71,171.31, including, eg, the \$2,000 fee for Dr. Tsvankin E-5 never paid. (Appendix at p. 1).

#### IV. Motion to Compel and Cross-Motion for Protective Order

#### A. Dr. Donaldson, Dr. Ericksen, and Fahrnow's Interrogatory No. 11.

Fahrnow retained orthopedic surgeon, Dr. Michelle Donaldson, as an expert. Consistent with Fahrnow's treating physicians, Dr. Donaldson opined that Fahrnow required a spinal cord stimulator and the incident caused Fahrnow to suffer (I) a permanent injury to his right lateral femoral cutaneous nerve and acute bilateral S1 radiculopathies; (II) a left knee medial meniscus injury; and (III) a right thigh seroma. (Motion to Compel at Exh. C at pp. 3-4). Dr. Donaldson also opined that Fahrnow will require a spinal fusion and subsequent treatment for adjacent segment disease which is 50% apportionable to the incident. (*Id.*)

Dr. Donaldson has worked as Chief of Orthopedics at Northern Montana Health Care since January 2013, previously worked as Chief of Orthopedics and Chief of Surgery at Livingston Health Care from 2003 to the end of the 2012, and has been an orthopedic surgeon since 2001. (*Id.* at Exh. D).

E-5 retained orthopedic surgeon Dr. Ericksen who issued an IME report opining that Fahrnow suffered a right lateral femoral cutaneous nerve injury. Dr. Ericksen disputed whether the incident caused Fahrnow other injuries.

During the deposition of Dr. Donaldson, it became apparent that E-5 was questioning Dr. Donaldson's qualifications to provide her opinions in the report. (*Id.* at Exh. F. at 16:21-17:10, 148:04-149:09). Fahrnow then served E-5 with the following Interrogatory to which E-5 provided a deficient and evasive answer:

**INTERROGATORY NO. 11:** Please identify any pertinent experience, credentials, employment history, training, expertise and/or education which you contend Dr. Donald Erickson has which you contend Dr. Michelle Donaldson does not have. **ANSWER:** E-5 objects to this interrogatory to the extent seeks information which is beyond the scope of permissible discovery under Rule 26, M.R.Civ.P. .... Dr. Donaldson likely has the necessary experience ... to provide Botox injections, lip fillers, facials ... but she is not competent or qualified to offer any of the unsupported and speculative opinions contained in her reports the Advocates Injury Attorneys paid for in this lawsuit.

(*Id.* at Exh. A). During the meet and confer process, E-5 confirmed that its position

(amazingly) was Dr. Donaldson could only give opinions on aesthetic medicine. (Id.

at Exh. B at pp. 19, 27). Inconsistent with E-5's position, *Dr. Ericksen testified that* 

Dr. Donaldson is qualified to give the opinions in her report. (Id. at Exh. G at

32:11-33:14).

On March 4, 2024, Fahrnow filed a motion to compel E-5 to answer Interrogatory No. 11. On March 11, 2024, E-5 filed a motion *in limine* to exclude Dr. Donaldson which contained numerous misstatements, and on which the District Court never ruled. (Fahrnow's Response to Motion *in Limine* re: Dr. Donaldson). Since the briefing on the motions, E-5 continued to harass Dr. Donaldson and attempted to conduct discovery on matters in her life unrelated to her expert work such as a 30(b)(6) deposition of Northern Montana Health Care with 9 topics about Dr. Donaldson's "comings and goings" and a deposition of Dr. Donaldson's colleague in her side aesthetic medicine business. (Fahrnow Motion *in Limine* #11-19 at Exh. D-G).

#### **B.** District Court's Order

On September 9, 2024, the Court entered an order denying Fahrnow's motion to compel and granting E-5's cross-motion for protective order holding that expert discovery was limited to Mont. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(4). (Appendix at p. 18). The order did not contain any award of attorney fees and expenses.

On September 11, 2024, E-5 filed a Notice of Filing Affidavit of Fees and Expenses which requested attorney fees and expenses, without any supporting documentation. That same day shortly thereafter, Fahrnow filed a Motion for Clarification seeking an order clarifying that the Court did not award E-5's its fees and expenses. Local Rule 15(B) provides that any object to an affidavit for fees shall

be filed "[w]ithin fourteen (14) days thereafter allowing three (3) additional days for mailing". On September 30, 2024, Fahrnow filed his timely objection to the affidavit for fees and expenses.<sup>2</sup>

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