**CASE NO. DA 24-0668**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA**

---

TRISTIN FAHRNOW,

Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

E-5 OILFIELD SERVICES, LLC, and EIKER, INC.,

Defendants/Appellees.

---

**APPELLEE E-5 OILFIELD SERVICE'S ANSWER BRIEF**

---

On appeal from the Seventh Judicial District of the State of Montana  
Richland County, Cause No. DV 21-100  
The Honorable David Cybulski

---

Martha Sheehy  
SHEEHY LAW FIRM  
P.O. Box 584  
Billings MT 59103  
(406) 252-2004  
[msheehy@sheehylawfirm.com](mailto:msheehy@sheehylawfirm.com)

*Attorney for Appellee E-5 Oilfield Services, LLC*

*Appearances*

Michael Manning  
**RITCHIE MANNING KAUTZ PLLP**  
175 N. 2th Street, Suite 1206

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

**Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment.** The District Court correctly granted summary judgment to E-5 and denied summary judgment to Fahrnow. Negligence *per se* should be applied when “as between two drivers – one who has been free from fault and violated no law, and one who has violated a law upon which the other depended – fault should, as a matter of public policy, be attributed to that person who violated the law.” *Craig v. Schell*, 1999 MT 40, ¶ 16, 293 Mont. 323, 975 P.2d 820. Fahrnow admits that he violated the numerous statutes which regulated his conduct after the first accident by parking his vehicle in the

traffic lane; failing to display hazard lights or flag; and walking in the traffic lanes. (CSApp. 55-56). Brown, on the other hand, was merely involved in a slow-speed accident, the mere happening of which is not sufficient to establish negligence. *Wilson v. Doe* (1987), 228 Mont. 42, 44, 740 P.2d 687, 688. Summary judgment is appropriate because “reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion as to the cause of the accident.” *See Pappas v. Midwest Motor Express* (1994), 268 Mont. 347, 350, 886 P.2d 918, 920. Fahrnow’s inexplicable decisions to block the road, exit his vehicle, and remain in the lane of traffic as a pedestrian without keeping a lookout for oncoming traffic caused the second accident.

**Spoliation.** The District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying liability sanctions based on Fahrnow’s tardy and specious claim that E-5 destroyed evidence. Sanctions for spoliation are available if E-5 anticipated litigation and yet acted with culpability to destroy evidence, and if Fahrnow suffered prejudice as a result. *Mont. State Univ. - Bozeman v. Montana First Jud. Dis. Ct.*, 2018 MT 220, ¶ 22, 392 Mont. 458, 426 P.3d 541. Sworn testimony establishes that E-5 had neither the experience to anticipate litigation generally, nor the notice to anticipate Fahrnow’s complaint. E-5 thus had no duty to preserve computerized truck data or employment records, and by the time Fahrnow requested the information five years after the accidents, the information no longer existed through no fault of E-5.

**Interrogatory No. 11.** The District Court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to compel a response to a single interrogatory regarding expert qualifications. Rule 26(b), Montana Rules of Civil Procedure, governs expert disclosures, and E-5 fully complied with the Rule, producing all documents and opinions required by Rule 26. Fahrnow fails to support his allegations with factually relevant authority, which is fatal to his appeal of the discovery order. *Hawkins v. Harney*, 2003 MT 58, ¶ 34, 314 Mont. 384, 66 P.3d 305.

**Award of Costs and Fees.** E-5 has waived the right to recover costs and fees. (CSApp. 127). Fahrnow’s appeal from the award of costs and fees is now moot, and E-5 therefore does not address it on appeal.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO E-5 AND CORRECTLY DENIED FAHRNOW’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.**

E-5 and Fahrnow each asserted that the other acted negligently, and each moved for summary judgment on their respective negligence claims. “Negligence is the failure to use the degree of care that an ordinary person would have used under the same circumstance.” *Barr v. Great Falls Int’l Airport Auth.*, 2005 MT 36, ¶ 41, 326 Mont. 93, 107 P.3d 471. “To maintain an action in negligence, a plaintiff must prove four essential elements: (1) the defendant owed the plaintiff a

legal duty, (2) the defendant breached that duty, (3) the breach was the actual and proximate cause of an injury to the plaintiff, and (4) damages resulted.” *Peterson v. Eichhorn*, 2008 MT 250, ¶ 23, 344 Mont. 540, 189 P.3d 615. Summary judgment dismissing a claim of negligence is appropriate if the party advancing the claim fails to establish even one of the four elements. *Dubiel v. Mont. Dept. of Transp.* 2012 MT 35, ¶ 12, 364 Mont. 175, 272 P.3d 66.

Because each party bears the burden of establishing the elements of his or its own negligence claim, the District Court analyzed the each negligence claim separately to ascertain whether each proponent met the burden of establishing the elements. The District Court correctly granted summary judgment to E-5 because Fahrnow’s sworn admissions establish that Fahrnow breached his statutory duties, causing his own injuries. The District Court correctly rejected Fahrnow’s motion for summary judgment because the undisputed facts and admissions established that Brown (and thus, E-5) breached no duties, and even if Brown had breached, reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion— Fahrnow’s violation of his statutory duties caused the second accident and Fahrnow’s injuries. *Pappas*, 268 Mont. at 350, 886 P.2d at 920.

**A. E-5 Established the Elements of Negligence Against Fahrnow.**

*1. Fahrnow breached his statutory duties as a matter of law.*

Fahrnow's violations of Montana's traffic statutes constitute negligence *per se*. "Negligence *per se* is simply negligence established as a matter of law, which usually arises from a statutory violation." *City of Whitefish v. Jentile*, 2012 MT 185, ¶ 30, 366 Mont. 94, 285 P.3d 515. "The threshold element required to establish negligence *per se* is that the defendant violated a particular statute." *Hislop v. Cady*, (1993) 261 Mont. 243, 248, 862 P.2d 388, 391. Establishing negligence *per se* settles the questions of duty and breach. *Olson v. Shumaker Trucking & Excavating Contractors, Inc.*, 2008 MT 378, ¶ 67, 347 Mont. 1, 196 P.3d 126.

Fahrnow's sworn admissions of his violation of statutes require the finding that Fahrnow was negligent as a matter of law. Following the first accident with Averett, Fahrnow did not move his truck from the traffic lanes of County Road 350 as required by Montana's traffic code. (CSApp. 51, 142:2-143:15). After leaving his truck in "park" in the road, blocking the traveling lanes, Fahrnow did not place any warning signs to alert other motorists to the hazard he created in the intersection and traffic lanes. (CSApp. 55, 163:11-166:6). Fahrnow then stood outside his vehicle in the roadway and intersection for several minutes before

walking to his parked vehicle, all the while with his back turned to Highway 23 and approaching traffic. (CSApp. 53-54 152:23-153:1; CSApp. 82-83). In doing so, Fahrnow placed himself directly in harm's way and the "line of fire" of approaching traffic. (CSApp. 71, 78:8-79:3).

Based on these sworn admissions, the District Court properly determined as a matter of law that Fahrnow violated numerous statutorily imposed duties:

Montana statutory law prohibits motorists from parking vehicles in the traffic lanes and intersections. [§ 61-8-354(1)]. Whenever a vehicle is parked on the traveled portion of the roadway, Montana statutory law requires the driver to display two red flags upon the roadway in the lane of traffic occupied by the disabled vehicle or at a distance of approximately 100 feet in advance of the vehicle. . . . [§ 61-9-412]. Montana statutory law further prohibits pedestrians from walking in the traffic lanes. [§ 61-8-503, -506].

(App. 6-7). The District Court also correctly determined that Fahrnow breached the common law duty to use reasonable care. (App. 7).

Fahrnow was negligent based on the violation of these particular statutes.

Critically, Fahrnow admitted to each violation under oath:

- Q. Could you read the -- the first bullet there, what that says.
- A. "Stop your vehicle at or near the accident site. If your vehicle can move, get it off the road so that it does not block traffic."
- Q. Okay. And that's a good and safe and reasonable thing for people to do that have been involved in an accident. Do you agree with that?
- A. I agree.

Q. Okay. And before Mr. Brown entered that intersection, you hadn't done that? You hadn't moved that vehicle out of the roadway. Is that fair?

A. Yep.

Q. And Mr. Averett hadn't done that either. Is that fair?

A. Yep.

Q. Okay. And then could you read the second bullet down.

A. "Do not stand or walk in traffic lanes. You could be struck by another vehicle."

Q. Okay. And you agree that that's exactly what happened in -- in this situation? You were standing in the traffic lane and -- after you were involved in an accident and got struck by another vehicle?

A. Yep.

Q. Okay. And do you understand that that's not a safe thing to do?

A. I mean, I guess, yeah.

\*\*\*\*

Q. Okay. And then could you read the last bullet on that page.

A. "Make sure that other traffic will not be involved in the crash. Use flares or other warning devices to alert traffic of the accident."

Q. Okay. And that wasn't something that -- that you did at the scene of the accident after Mr. Averett hit your truck. Is that fair?

\*\*\*\*

A. Or, yeah, that's fair.

\*\*\*\*

Q. And Mr. Averett didn't do that?

A. No.

Q. And that's a good and safe and reasonable thing to do is -- is to use flares and warning devices and alert other traffic so that the first accident doesn't cause a second one. Do you agree with that?

A. Yep.

(CSApp. 55-56, Fahrnow 163:11-166:6).

Fahrnow concedes that he failed to remove his vehicle from the roadway (violating § 61-8-354(1)); failed to warn other drivers of the accident (violating § 61-9-412); and stood and walked in the traffic lanes after the first accident (violating § 61-8-503, -506). (CRApp. 55-56). Based on Fahrnow's sworn admissions, the District Court properly found that Fahrnow was negligent as a matter of law.

2. *Fahrnow's breaches caused the second accident.*

Just as Fahrnow's sworn admissions establish duty and breach, Fahrnow's admissions establish that Fahrnow's negligence, and not Brown's, caused the second collision.

"A party's act is the cause-in-fact of an event if 'the event would not have occurred but for that conduct.'" *Fisher v. Swift Transp. Co.*, 2008 MT 105, ¶ 36, 342 Mont. 335, 181 P.3d 601 (citations omitted). Fahrnow's vehicle

sustained only minor damage in the first accident and was not disabled. (CSApp. 57, Fahrnow 231:17-20). Fahrnow admits he could have moved the vehicle to clear the traffic lanes, and further admits that if he had moved his vehicle, he never would have been injured. (CSApp. 58, 234:1-8). Moreover, Fahrnow testified under oath that had he simply looked, he would have seen E-5's large, red hot oil truck coming directly towards him from at least one-half mile away. (CSApp. 50, 52; 137:6-24; 147:23-148:2). His co-worker, Harrell, who was also standing in the traffic lane "right next to" Fahrnow, saw the hot oil truck and moved out of danger. (CSApp. 89, Harrell 18:1-11; 32:16-18). Fahrnow's actions were the cause-in-fact of the accident.

In *Roe v. Kornder-Owen* (1997), 282 Mont. 287, 937 P.2d 39, this Court analyzed causation when, as here, one party was negligent *per se*. In that case, plaintiff failed to comply with the duty to yield the intersection pursuant to § 61-8-341, Mont. Code Ann. This Court held that defendant had a right to rely on plaintiff's compliance. "Therefore, we hold as a matter of law that [plaintiff] was negligent for failing to comply with [the statute] and that the predicate for imposition of a duty on the defendant to yield did not occur. To summarize, it was [plaintiff's] negligence, and not [defendant's] that caused the parties' collision." *Roe*, 282 Mont. at 292, 937 P.2d at 42-43. Like in *Roe*, in this case § 61-8-503(1)

required Fahrnow, a pedestrian not in a crosswalk, “to yield the right-of-way to all vehicles upon the roadway,” and Brown had a right to rely on Fahrnow’s compliance.

Similarly, in *Anderson v. Werner Enterprises, Inc.* 1998 MT 333, 292 Mont. 284, 972 P.2d 806, this Court considered a three-vehicle icy-road collision in which plaintiff lost control of his vehicle after two other vehicles spun into the road in front of him before lodging in a snow bank. The trial court granted directed verdict to plaintiff Anderson on the issue of his comparative negligence when the defendant testified that “there was nothing else [Anderson] could do” to avoid the accident. This Court affirmed, opining that Anderson’s loss of control of the vehicle did not cause the accident and that “reasonable persons could draw no other conclusion but that the facts did not support a causal connection between Anderson’s actions and his injuries.” *Id.* at ¶ 38.

The same result is required here. Fahrnow failed to comply with his legal duties to pull his vehicle off the road, warn other drivers, and personally stay out of the roadway. His unforeseeable statutory violations constitute negligence *per se*. Considering the evidence, reasonable persons could draw no other conclusion but that the facts establish a causal connection between Fahrnow’s statutory violations and his injuries. Just as in *Roe*, Fahrnow’s negligence caused the second collision

as a matter of law. E-5 having met its burden of establishing that Fahrnow's breaches of duties caused his injuries, the District Court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of E-5 on its claim that Fahrnow was negligent.

**B. Fahrnow Did Not Establish the Elements of Negligence Against E-5.**

*1. Brown (and thus E-5) breached no duties.*

Fahrnow bears the burden of establishing the elements of his claim of negligence against E-5, including duty and breach. *Peterson*, 2000 MT 250, ¶ 23. In contrast to E-5's claim that Fahrnow violated specific statutory duties, Fahrnow's claim of negligence against E-5 does not give rise to negligence *per se*. Fahrnow alleges that Brown breached general duties based on factually unsupported claims that Brown was traveling too fast and failed to avoid the blocked intersection, which was in "plain view." (FOB 22-23). Although Fahrnow cites to § 61-8-303(3), Mont. Code Ann., and 49 CFR § 392.14, these general and vague allegations do not meet the threshold requirement for negligence *per se*: violation of a particular statute. *Edie v. Gray*, 2005 MT 224, ¶ 16, 328 Mont. 354, 121 P.3d 516.

For decades, this Court has held that "the mere happening of an accident is insufficient evidence of negligence." *Wilson*, 228 Mont. at 44, 740 P.2d at 688. Yet Fahrnow's speculative assertion of inappropriate speed amounts to nothing

more than an implication that because an accident occurred, Brown was driving too fast – a theory rejected in *Roe*. Unsupported claims of inappropriate speed are precisely the type of speculative and conclusory allegations that are insufficient to defeat summary judgment. *Roe*, 282 Mont. at 290-91, 937 P.2d at 41-42.

There is no admissible evidence that Brown was driving “too fast.” Even Fahrnow’s retained expert opined that the hot oil truck was traveling under 30 miles per hour as it approached the intersection – where the posted speed limit is 50 miles per hour – and had slowed to 12 to 18 miles per hour by the time of the second collision.<sup>2</sup> (CSApp. 34, 131:17-132:7).

As recently determined as a matter of law by Montana’s federal district court, an expert’s generic conclusion that slower, safer driving prevents accidents is insufficient when the party “fails to present any evidence that shows a change in [the driver’s] speed or operation of the truck would have altered the outcome. . . .” *Creel v. Loy*, 524 F.Supp.3d 1090, 1100 (D. Mont. 2021). In this case, the District

---

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